Filed 06-27-2023

FILED 06-27-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2023AP218-CR

In the interest of Jayden Adams, a person under the age of 17:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAYDEN ADAMS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Denying a Transfer of Jurisdiction to Juvenile Court, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Laura Gramling Perez Presiding.

> BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > DAVID MALKUS

Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1094027

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 malkusd@opd.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was Jayden entitled to discovery before his preliminary hearing in order to protect his right to challenge the criminal court's original jurisdiction?

The circuit court answered no.

2. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it denied Jayden's motion to transfer jurisdiction to juvenile court?

The circuit court denied the motion to transfer jurisdiction to juvenile court.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Jayden does not request oral argument because the briefs will fully address the issues presented. However, publication may be warranted to clarify the Wisconsin Supreme Court's mandate in *State v. Kleser*, 2010 WI 28, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 786 N.W.2d 144. In *Kleser*, the court mandated that in preliminary hearings held in connection with motions to transfer jurisdiction to juvenile court, juveniles are entitled to enhanced "latitude in attacking the specific offense charged if a successful attack would alter the crime charged or negate the exclusive original jurisdiction of the criminal court." *Id.*, ¶ 65. Neither this Court nor the Wisconsin Supreme Court has since provided further guidance on the scope of this enhanced latitude.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A complaint was filed charging Jayden, then 13 years old, with six felony counts. Jayden was charged with one count of each of the following: first-degree reckless homicide as a party to a crime, taking a vehicle without owner's consent by use of force or threat as a party to a crime, hit and run resulting in death, knowingly operating a motor vehicle without a valid license resulting in death, unauthorized use of personal identifying information, and attempting to flee or elude an officer. (5:1-2). Jayden was subject to original criminal court jurisdiction based on the firstdegree reckless homicide charge. *See* Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(am).

By counsel, Jayden filed a motion demanding that the State provide discovery prior to the preliminary hearing. (8:1). The motion cited *Kleser*, noted that the defense had only received a copy of the complaint and a limited number of police reports, and averred that the following discovery was outstanding:

> [P]olice reports, body worn camera and squad camera audio-visual recordings, surveillance video, photographs, audio-visual recordings of statements made by witnesses, alleged co-actors, and the child defendant, and Milwaukee County Medical Examiner reports.

(8:2).

Page 6 of 28

Following briefing and oral arguments, the circuit court denied Jayden's motion in a decision rendered from the bench.¹ The court noted that the State is not required to provide discovery prior to preliminary hearings conducted under Wis. Stat. § 970.03. (19:12-13; App. 6-7).² Additionally, the court stated the following in regards to *Kleser's* mandate for enhanced latitude in preliminary hearings held in connection with a motion to transfer jurisdiction under Wis. Stat. § 970.032:

[P]aragraph 65 [says] the defendant must be given some latitude in attacking the specific offense charged if that successful attack would alter the crime charged or negate the exclusive original jurisdiction of the criminal court. This Court reads that as limited by the further statement in paragraph 69 of the Kleser Court that it appears to us the legislature did not intend the reverse waiver hearing to be a minitrial. So it's not to be a minitrial. It's modeled on a preliminary examination, but this Court has to give more latitude to the defense to be able to challenge the actual charges that are issued. The Court reads that as allowing questioning that would otherwise typically be objected to as discovery or getting into more credibility issues, that kind of thing, and the Court will give

¹ The Honorable Audrey Skwierawski presided over Jayden's motion for discovery and his preliminary hearing. The Honorable Laura Gramling Perez presided over the reverse waiver hearing.

² Wis. Stat. § 971.31(5)(b) states that "[i]n felony actions ... motions under s. 971.23 ... shall not be made at a preliminary examination and not until an information has been filed."

additional latitude to the defense pursuant to *Kleser* to be able to attack the specific offense charged.

(19:14-15; App. 8-9). The court concluded that "there is no statutory or caselaw right at a preliminary examination for discovery to be turned over." (19:12; App. 6).³

Subsequently, police detective Ryan Cepican testified as the sole witness at the preliminary hearing. According to Detective Cepican, Wauwatosa police responded to a report of a pedestrian lying in a roadway who appeared to have been struck by a vehicle. (15:8). Detective Cepican testified that efforts to revive the pedestrian, Sunita Balogun-Olayiwola, were unsuccessful. (15:8). An autopsy indicated that the cause of death was multiple blunt force trauma consistent with being run over by a motor vehicle. (15:11).

Detective Cepican testified that police eventually arrested and interrogated Jayden and three other children in connection with the incident. Detective Cepican stated that he did not review much of Jayden's recorded interrogation, and indicated that he could not testify in regards to the contents of this interrogation. (17:19-20). Nonetheless, he testified that the other children reported to police that they had come to Wauwatosa in search of a car to steal. (16:23).

7

 $^{^{3}}$ The State advised that it would provide discovery to the defense after the preliminary hearing and before the reverse waiver hearing. (19:3).

He testified that the children reportedly attempted to steal a red Hyundai in a hotel parking lot, but walked away from the vehicle after being confronted by Ms. Balogun-Olayiwola. (16:24-26).

According to Detective Cepican, the children Ms. Balogun-Olayiwola reported that later approached the group in a dark Jeep SUV, and that she got out of the vehicle to confront them a second time. (16:32). One of the children, A.N.G., reported that Ms. Balogun-Olayiwola punched her, and that she retaliated by punching Ms. Balogun-Olayiwola. (16:33). A.N.G. further reported that Jayden got into the driver's seat of the SUV when A.N.G. told him to do so. (16:32-33). Ms. Balogun-Olaviwola reportedly then grabbed ahold of the driver's door and fell as Jayden put the SUV into motion, whereupon Jayden backed up the vehicle, striking her in the head. (16:32-33). Upon learning that Ms. Balogun-Olayiwola had died, the children reported that they fled the scene in the SUV. (16:39).

Detective Cepican testified that police also spoke with witnesses who lived in nearby apartments. (15:15, 20). He testified that one witness reported seeing a male sitting in the driver's seat of an SUV while three females argued outside of the vehicle. (15:16). This witness reported seeing the SUV back up, striking one of the females in a manner that appeared intentional, then drive forwards over her and back up over her again. (15:17-19). The witness reported that the other females got into the SUV, and the vehicle fled the scene. (15:20). Police learned that the SUV belonged to a friend of Ms. Balogun-Olayiwola's, and that she was borrowing the SUV because her own vehicle was in repair. (15:10).

Detective Cepican testified that police later found the SUV in Milwaukee and attempted to conduct a traffic stop, but the vehicle successfully eluded police after a high-speed chase. (15:27-30). Police eventually relocated the SUV after it had been abandoned, and arrested Jayden and three other children near the vicinity of the vehicle. (16:7-11). Police found receipts in the SUV, and further investigation revealed that Jayden and two of the other children had used the deceased's credit card to purchase merchandise at Walmart. (16:13-20). Police also learned that Jayden did not have a driver's license when driving the SUV because he was only 13 years old. (16:39-40).

At the conclusion of Detective Cepican's testimony, the circuit court found that probable cause existed for first-degree reckless homicide. (17:57). The court stated that it also needed "to do the analysis on the remainder of the counts," and concluded that there was probable cause for these counts as well. (17:57-64).

A two-day reverse waiver hearing commenced on January 3, 2023. Dr. Antoinette Kavanaugh, a board-certified forensic psychologist, testified as the first witness for Jayden's defense. (59:9). Dr. Kavanaugh testified that she had met with Jayden to complete a forensic evaluation, and that she administered a series of tests to assist with the evaluation. (59:8, 22-24). She testified that Jayden suffered from depression and anxiety, that he had a history of struggling with regulating his emotions, and that he needed treatment to address these issues. (59:33-34). Dr. Kavanaugh testified that Jayden particularly needed cognitive behavioral therapy in order to better regulate his emotions and reduce impulsivity. (59:43). She testified that he also needed to be evaluated for psychotropic medications to potentially treat his depression and anxiety. (59:43).

Dr. Kavanaugh testified that empirical studies find that children tried in the adult court system have higher recidivism rates than children in the juvenile court system. (59:61). She testified that higher rates of recidivism for children in the adult court system were likely tied to housing, employment, and health factors. (59:62). Dr. Kavanaugh further testified that children in the juvenile court system benefit from greater access to services, and that they benefit from being around peers of a similar age. (59:50). Dr. Kavanaugh testified that retaining criminal court jurisdiction was not necessary to deter Jayden or other children from committing crimes. (59:64-65).

Dr. Kavanaugh testified that she was unaware if the studies she had reviewed examined homicide cases specifically, and stated that higher recidivism rates could possibly reflect higher risk children being tried in the adult court system more often than lower risk children. (59:112, 118). She also testified that Jayden would likely remain at the Lincoln Hills juvenile correctional facility until he turned 18 even if he remained in the adult court system. (59:78). Dr. Kavanaugh testified that she was unfamiliar with the Racine Youthful Offender Correctional Facility (RYOC). (59:94).

Alicia Kraus testified as the next witness for the defense. Ms. Kraus testified that she is the director of program services for the Department of Corrections. (59:140). She testified that there is limited access to treatment programs in adult prisons, that many inmates remain on lengthy waitlists for programs, and that inmates oftentimes do not receive access to programs until they approach their release dates. (59:155-57). As a result, Ms. Kraus testified that an inmate serving a lengthy sentence would likely not have access to programs during much of their sentence, with the sole exception of educational services. (59:157).

Ms. Kraus also testified in regards to RYOC. Ms. Kraus testified that RYOC is a medium-security prison primarily composed of inmates between the ages of 18 and 24. (59:151, 171). According to Ms. Kraus, it is "possible" for a child serving an adult sentence at Lincoln Hills to transfer to RYOC upon turning 18. (59:173-74). However, Ms. Kraus declined to offer any opinion on the likelihood that Jayden, or a similarly situated child, would transfer to RYOC upon turning 18. (59:173-74).

Sheila Corro testified as the next witness for the defense. Ms. Corro testified that she is the director of treatment programs for the Lincoln Hills juvenile

11

correctional facility. (59:182). She testified that upon Hills. children entering Lincoln undergo an observation and assessment period to identify their treatment needs. (59:183-89). According to Ms. Corro, Dialectical Behavioral Therapy (DBT) is the primary treatment program offered at Lincoln Hills. (59:197). Ms. Corro testified that DBT is a cognitive behavioral therapy program designed to help children better regulate their emotions and improve their decisionmaking skills. (59:198). She testified that children placed at Lincoln Hills begin DBT immediately, and that they continue with this treatment throughout their stay at the facility. (59:199).

According Ms. Corro, children placed at Lincoln Hills pursuant to juvenile delinquency orders typically spend eight to nine months in custody regardless of their offense. (59:216). She testified that upon release, children on juvenile orders continue to receive community-based supervision, and that children may return to Lincoln Hills if they violate their supervision rules. (59:211-12).

Ms. Corro testified that children placed at Lincoln Hills pursuant to adult court orders do not undergo an observation or assessment period at the facility to identity their treatment needs. (59:189). Nonetheless, Ms. Corro testified that these children still receive the same services at Lincoln Hills as compared with children under juvenile delinquency orders, including DBT. (59:213-14).

Timothy Kubiszewski testified as the next witness for the defense. Mr. Kubiszewski testified that he is a field supervisor for the DOC's Division of Juvenile Corrections, and that this division monitors children released from Lincoln Hills to ensure that they follow their supervision rules and continue to receive treatment-based services. (85:6-7). He testified that the DOC does not supervise all children released from Lincoln Hills under juvenile orders, but that it is responsible for children released pursuant to the Serious Juvenile Offender (SJO) program. (85:9). Mr. Kubiszewski testified that upon release, children under SJO orders receive a continuation of DBT, support, educational mentoring, and intensive tracking through GPS monitoring. (85:11-31). He further testified that the DOC has discretion to return children to Lincoln Hills if they violate their supervision rules. (85:33).

Mr. Kubiszewski testified children that Lincoln Hills for returned to violating their supervision rules typically spend eight to nine months in custody. (85:36). He testified that children also typically spend eight to nine months in custody during their initial stay at Lincoln Hills regardless of their offense. (85:39-40). Mr. Kubiszewski testified that SJO orders can last for up to five years, and that the DOC has discretion to discharge children from SJO orders after three years. (85:42)

Melanie Fleischmann testified as the next witness for the defense. Ms. Fleischmann testified that she coordinates services for Wraparound Milwaukee.

13

Page 14 of 28

(85:67-68). She testified that the Wraparound program assists children upon their release from Lincoln Hills by providing services to address their mental health needs. (85:68). Ms. Fleischmann testified that children are eligible for Wraparound services until they turn 19. (85:70).

Jayden's maternal aunt, Sharonda Stewart, testified as the final defense witness. (85:75-76). Ms. Stewart testified regarding Jayden's life before his arrest and her perception of his mindset during his time in secure detention. (85:80-89).

At the conclusion of testimony from defense witnesses, the State advised that it would not call any witnesses. (85:109).

The court then heard oral arguments from the parties, and denied Jayden's motion in a decision rendered from the bench. (52:3; App. 11). The court noted that the defense needed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that reverse waiver was appropriate for each of the following reasons:

That, if convicted, the juvenile could not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system.

That transferring jurisdiction to the court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under chs. 48 and 938 would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense.

That retaining jurisdiction is not necessary to deter the juvenile or other juveniles from

Page 15 of 28

committing the violation of which the juvenile is accused

Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2).

In regards to the first factor, the court stated that Jayden did not have any special treatment needs, and characterized his depression and anxiety as "situational." (52:4; App. 12). The court further stated that all of Jayden's treatment needs could be addressed at Lincoln Hills regardless of whether he was placed there under a juvenile order or an adult sentence, and that he could stay there longer if he received an adult sentence. (52:4-5; App. 12-13). Additionally, the court concluded that, upon turning 18, Jayden would "receive substantially the same services at the adult facility as are available at Lincoln Hills," and would not be negatively influenced by much older inmates. (52:5-6; App. 13-14). In support of these findings, the court stated the following:

> I think that there is substantial evidence on the record that there is, at least, a very good chance that Jayden would be moved to RYOC after his time at Lincoln Hills, and so would be in a facility that focuses on his -- people his age -- maturing youth -- and working with a staff that is certainly accustomed to, and perhaps, specifically trained to, work with a population that is approximately Jayden's age. It is certainly not guaranteed that Jayden would be placed at RYOC, but the evidence before me indicates that there's a very good chance of it.

(52:6-7; App. 14-15) (emphasis added).

Page 16 of 28

Regarding the second factor, the court stated that Jayden had not proven that reverse waiver would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense. (52:15; App. 23). The court noted the serious nature of the allegations, and stated that "this offense created significant trauma in our community." (52:10; App. 18). The court further stated that the incident must have been traumatic for witnesses and the victim's family, and elaborated as follows:

> Certainly, the victim's family has been very present throughout these proceedings, and I know throughout the proceedings involving the other youth who were involved in the incident. And it is very clear to me -- I mean, it goes without saying that this was an extraordinary incident, an incredibly tragic incident for the victim herself, but it's very clear to me that this has created very great ongoing trauma and tragedy for the victim's family.

(52:10-11; App. 18-19).

Additionally, the court stated that Jayden needed to be held accountable for the allegations. (52:14; App. 22). The court recited testimony that Jayden would likely remain at Lincoln Hills for less than a year under a juvenile order, and stated that it did not know whether "a period of nine months in custody -- even after [more than a year in custody] pretrial -- would, in fact, not depreciate the seriousness of this offense." (52:15; App. 23).

In regards to the third factor, the court noted that Jayden might remain in Lincoln Hills for only

Page 17 of 28

nine months under a juvenile order, and stated "I don't believe that Jayden has established that retaining jurisdiction in the adult court is not necessary to deter him from committing other serious offenses." (52:16; App. 24). However, the court did not address the statutory criteria of whether retaining jurisdiction was necessary to deter Jayden "from committing the violation of which [he] is accused[.]" *See* Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2)(c). Regarding general deterrence, the court stated that "perhaps" retaining criminal court jurisdiction was not necessary to deter other children. (52:17; App. 25). Nonetheless, the court concluded that the first two statutory factors weighed in favor of retaining jurisdiction. (52:17; App. 25).

The circuit court entered a written order denying Jayden's reverse waiver motion on January 23, 2023. (49:1; App. 26). By counsel, Jayden filed a petition for leave to appeal based on (1) the circuit court's denial of his motion for discovery prior to the preliminary hearing; and (2) the court's denial of his reverse waiver motion.⁴ This Court entered an order granting Jayden's petition.

⁴ The petition's statement of issues also referenced a circuit court order compelling Jayden to undergo a forensic examination with a psychologist retained by the State. Jayden does not raise this issue on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. Jayden was entitled to discovery before his preliminary hearing in order to protect his right to challenge the criminal court's original jurisdiction.

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(am), criminal courts have exclusive original jurisdiction over a juvenile charged with first-degree reckless homicide if the offense occurred on or after the juvenile's 10th birthday. A juvenile subject to original criminal court jurisdiction has the right to a preliminary hearing under Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1). A hearing under this statute, however, differs from an ordinary preliminary hearing in which the purpose is merely to decide if there is probable cause that "a felony" has been committed. Wis. Stat. § 970.03(1).

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