FILED 08-08-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2023AP218-CR

IN THE INTEREST OF JAYDEN ADAMS, A PERSON UNDER THE AGE OF 17:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAYDEN ADAMS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A TRANSFER OF JURISDICTION TO JUVENILE COURT, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE LAURA GRAMLING PEREZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ABIGAIL C. S. POTTS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1060762

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Adams raises two issues on appeal. He challenges the circuit court's decision denying him discovery prior to the preliminary examination, and he challenges the circuit court's decision denying his petition for reverse waiver back to juvenile court. The Court lacks jurisdiction to hear the discovery challenge, but even if it has jurisdiction, Adams' argument fails because it is not legally supported. Adams' second argument fails because the circuit court properly

Case 2023AP000218 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-08-2023 Page 8 of 21

exercised its discretion when it denied Adams a reverse waiver.

I. This Court lacks jurisdiction to hear Adams' discovery claim.

A. An order must be in writing to make it eligible for review.

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.50(1), a defendant who wants to appeal a non-final order must "seek leave of the court to appeal a judgment or order not appealable as of right under s. 808.03 (1) by filing with the court of appeals within 14 days after the entry of the judgment or order a petition and supporting memorandum, if any." "An order is 'entered' when it is filed [with] the clerk of the circuit court." State v. Wolverton, 193 Wis. 2d 234, 259, 533 N.W.2d 167 (1995), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Dubose, 2005 WI 126, 285 Wis. 2d 143, 699 N.W.2d 582; see also Wis. Stat. § 807.11(2). Therefore, Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.50(1) contemplates entry of a written order before a petition for leave to appeal can be filed. See Wolverton, 193 Wis. 2d at 259.

An oral ruling is not enough to give this Court jurisdiction. The ruling must be reduced to writing and entered by the clerk of court before an appeal can be taken. State v. Powell, 70 Wis. 2d 220, 222, 234 N.W.2d 345 (1975). "The fact that the reporter properly included the pronouncement in the transcript of the trial court proceeding does not elevate the oral pronouncement of the trial court to the status of a written order." *Id*.

In short, "if a party seeks to invoke the jurisdiction of the appellate court, the order must be in writing." *Powell*, 70 Wis. 2d at 222. And this Court is without jurisdiction to review an order until it is entered in writing. *Id.*; see also State ex rel. Hildebrand v. Kegu, 59 Wis. 2d 215, 216, 207 N.W.2d 658 (1973). The only time that non-final orders need not be reduced to writing to be eligible for review is in the context of

Case 2023AP000218 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-08-2023 Page 9 of 21

a direct appeal from a final order. See Jacquart v. Jacquart, 183 Wis. 2d 372, 380, 515 N.W.2d 539 (Ct. App. 1994).

Finally, the question of whether the Court has jurisdiction is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *State v. Jacobs*, 2007 WI App 155, \P 3, 302 Wis. 2d 675, 735 N.W.2d 535.

B. Without a written order denying Adams' motion for discovery, this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear Adams' claim.

Adams' petition for leave to appeal expressly indicated that Adams was seeking "leave to appeal from a nonfinal order in Milwaukee County Case 2021-CF-4376, entered on January 23, 2023." (Pet. 1.) That January 23, 2023 order is the order denying reverse waiver. Now, in his brief on appeal, Adams challenges the circuit court's earlier decision on his discovery motion. But this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear Adams' claim regarding discovery because the court's decision denying his discovery request was never reduced to writing.

The November 17, 2021 decision on Adams' discovery motion was an oral ruling. (R. 19.) And that ruling has not been reduced to writing. So, since this appeal is not a direct appeal from a final order, this Court is without jurisdiction to review it. *Powell*, 70 Wis. 2d at 222; *Jacquart*, 183 Wis. 2d at 380.

Finally, it is worth noting that Adams did not petition for leave to appeal the circuit court's discovery ruling within the 14-day deadline set forth in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.50(1). So, had the court's ruling been in writing, Adams' appeal of that decision would be untimely.

This Court lacks jurisdiction to review Adams' claim challenging the denial of his motion for discovery.

II. Adams was not entitled to discovery before his preliminary hearing.

A. Applicable law on preliminary hearings for juveniles subject to original jurisdiction of the criminal courts.

Wisconsin circuit courts have original adult court jurisdiction in criminal proceedings involving a juvenile who is alleged to have attempted or committed first-degree reckless homicide. Wis. Stat. §§ 938.183(1)(am), 940.01. Adams was charged with first-degree reckless homicide and thus Milwaukee County Circuit Court had original adult court jurisdiction over his case.

In cases such as these, the circuit court first holds a preliminary examination to establish probable cause for the violation that subjects the defendant to original adult court jurisdiction:

Notwithstanding s. 970.03, if a preliminary examination is held regarding a juvenile who is subject to the original jurisdiction of the court of criminal jurisdiction under s. 938.183 (1), the court shall first determine whether there is probable cause to believe that the juvenile has committed the violation of which he or she is accused under the circumstances specified in s. 938.183 (1) (a), (am), (ar), (b), or (c), whichever is applicable.

Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1).

"A preliminary examination under § 970.032(1) is different from a preliminary examination under Wis. Stat. § 970.03(1). Under § 970.03(1), the statutory purpose of the hearing is to determine 'if there is probable cause to believe a *felony* has been committed by the defendant." *State v. Kleser*, 2010 WI 88, ¶ 55, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 786 N.W.2d 144 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 970.03(1)). "In contrast, under § 970.032(1), the court must determine whether there is probable cause to

Case 2023AP000218 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-08-2023 Page 11 of 21

believe that the juvenile has committed 'the violation' of which he or she is accused in the criminal complaint." Id. ¶ 57.

The Court in *Kleser* explained that the more specific finding required under Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1) "is required not only to protect the juvenile from hasty, improvident, or malicious prosecution, but also to assure that the criminal court has 'exclusive original jurisdiction' of the juvenile by virtue of the juvenile's probable violation of one of the [enumerated] offenses." *Kleser*, 328 Wis. 2d 42, ¶ 57. And the Court noted that the difference in the statutory language means that "the defendant *must* be given some latitude in attacking the specific offense charged if a successful attack would alter the crime charged or negate the exclusive original jurisdiction of the criminal court." Id. ¶ 65.

Finally, while a trial court's discovery order is generally reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion, interpreting and applying statutes and case law implicates questions of law, which this Court reviews de novo. Lane v. Sharp Packaging Sys., Inc., 2002 WI 28, ¶ 19, 251 Wis. 2d 68, 640 N.W.2d 788 ("We review the circuit court's discovery order for an erroneous exercise of discretion."); Sands v. Whitnall School Dist., 2008 WI 89, ¶ 14, 312 Wis. 2d 1, 754 N.W.2d 439 (explaining that statutory interpretation is reviewed de novo); Estate of Torres ex rel. Torres v. Morales, 2008 WI App 113, ¶ 4, 313 Wis. 2d 371, 756 N.W.2d 662 (directing that the interpretation and application of case law is reviewed de novo).

B. No law afforded Adams the right to discovery before his preliminary hearing.

Adams frames his discovery argument as a right. He asserts that he is "entitled" to discovery. (Adams' Br. 18.) But Adams has not identified the source of such a right. In fact, neither Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1) nor relevant caselaw creates a right to discovery prior to the preliminary examination.

As noted above, Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1), addresses preliminary examinations in cases where the adult criminal court has exclusive original jurisdiction over a juvenile. The statute, in pertinent part, directs the circuit court to "determine whether there is probable cause to believe that the juvenile has committed the violation of which he or she is accused." Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1).

The statute does not address discovery, let alone create a right to discovery prior to the preliminary examination. Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1). So, by its plain terms, Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1) cannot be the source of the right Adams asserts.

Caselaw does not create such a right either. In fact, in adult proceedings, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has made clear that a defendant does not have a statutory or constitutional right to discovery prior to the preliminary examination. *State v. Schaefer*, 2008 WI 25, 308 Wis. 2d 279, 746 N.W.2d 457.

In *Schaefer*, the Court explained that "statutory discovery is designed to assure fairness at a criminal *trial*." *Schaefer*, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 23 (emphasis added). And "[a] preliminary examination is not a trial." *Id*. ¶ 24. Instead, "the preliminary examination is 'intended to be a summary proceeding to determine essential or basic facts as to probability." *Id*. ¶ 34 (citation omitted).

Even though a defendant is not entitled to statutory discovery prior to the preliminary examination, a defendant may still use "less formal information-gathering techniques" and present evidence at the hearing. *Schaefer*, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 30; Wis. Stat. § 970.03(5). "[A defendant] may call witnesses to rebut the plausibility of a witness's story and probability that a felony was committed." *Schaefer*, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 35.

Adams argues that the *Kleser* case creates a right to discovery in cases like his. (Adams' Br. 18.) But Adams

Case 2023AP000218 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-08-2023 Page 13 of 21

misreads *Kleser*. *Kleser* does not create a right to discovery for preliminary hearings under Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1).

While the Court in *Kleser* made a point to explain that preliminary examinations under Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1) (original jurisdiction of juveniles) are different than preliminary examinations in adult proceedings, the Court did not say that there is a right to discovery for preliminary hearings under Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1). *Kleser*, 328 Wis. 2d 42, ¶ 55. Notably, the defendant in *Kleser* waived his right to a preliminary examination, so much of the Court's discussion relates to evidence admissible at the reverse waiver stage of the process, not the preliminary examination. Id. ¶ 2.

What the *Kleser* Court said was that juvenile defendants should have the right to attempt to negate the specific offense granting the court exclusive original jurisdiction. *Kleser*, 328 Wis. 2d 42, \P 60. And the Court stated, "the defendant *must* be given some latitude in attacking the specific offense charged if a successful attack would alter the crime charged or negate the exclusive original jurisdiction of the criminal court." *Id.* \P 65. But beyond noting that juvenile defendants "*must* be given some latitude in attacking the specific offense charged," the Court did not go into detail about what that latitude entails. *Id.*

Considering the "less formal information-gathering techniques" discussed in *Schaefer*, the latitude referenced in *Kleser* could include greater latitude in calling witnesses to rebut the plausibility of a State witness's story, or latitude in questioning the State's witnesses. *Schaefer*, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 30.

In Adams' case, he was charged with first-degree reckless homicide, and that is the charge that triggered the criminal court's original jurisdiction. (R. 5.) Prior to the preliminary examination, the State had given Adams numerous pages of police reports and the criminal complaint,

so Adams had the information necessary to attack the specific offense charged. (R. 18:21–22.) According to *Kleser*, Adams was entitled "some latitude" to present evidence to attack the element of that crime that distinguishes first-degree reckless homicide from non-original jurisdiction offenses, such as second-degree reckless homicide. *See Kleser*, 328 Wis. 2d 42, ¶ 65. The circuit court expressly granted that latitude in the form of greater freedom to question witnesses at the hearing. (R. 19:14–15.)

Adams' discovery argument fails because he has not shown that he had a right—derived from either statute or caselaw—to discovery prior to the preliminary examination.

III. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying reverse waiver.

A. Applicable law on reverse waiver proceedings and standard of review.

After a preliminary examination, "[i]f the court finds probable cause to believe that the juvenile has committed the violation of which he or she is accused . . . the court shall determine whether to retain jurisdiction or to transfer jurisdiction" to the juvenile court. Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2).

Wisconsin Stat. § 970.032(2) provides that the court shall retain adult court jurisdiction unless the juvenile proves by a preponderance of the evidence all of the following:

- (a) That, if convicted, the juvenile could not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system.
- (b) That transferring jurisdiction to the court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under . . . [ch.] 938 would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense.
- (c) That retaining jurisdiction is not necessary to deter the juvenile or other juveniles from committing the violation of which the juvenile is accused

See Kleser, 328 Wis. 2d 42, ¶¶ 51, 67–68. The procedure set forth in Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2) is commonly referred to as reverse waiver. See id. ¶ 67.

"A decision to retain or transfer jurisdiction in a reverse waiver situation is a discretionary decision for the trial court." State v. Dominic E.W., 218 Wis. 2d 52, 56, 579 N.W.2d 282 (Ct. App. 1998). "Reverse waiver' refers to the procedure by which an adult court transfers a case against a juvenile offender to juvenile court." State v. Toliver, 2014 WI 85, ¶ 18 n.7, 356 Wis. 2d 642, 851 N.W.2d 251. "Although the usual situation under the reverse waiver statute is that the criminal court will retain jurisdiction over the juvenile, it is not mandatory." Dominic E.W., 218 Wis. 2d at 59.

"An appellate court will affirm a discretionary decision if the circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, and using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *Kleser*, 328 Wis. 2d 42, ¶ 37. "When reviewing a trial court's exercise of discretion, [this Court] will look for reasons to sustain the decision." *State v. Verhagen*, 198 Wis. 2d 177, 191, 542 N.W.2d 189 (Ct. App. 1995).

B. The circuit court applied the correct law and reached a logical conclusion based on the facts.

Adams' second argument challenges the circuit court's discretionary decision to deny Adams' petition for reverse waiver back to juvenile court. This challenge fails because the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying the reverse waiver petition. The court applied the correct legal standard, considered the relevant facts, and reached a reasonable conclusion.

As just noted, "[i]n a reverse waiver hearing, the juvenile must prove all elements set out in [Wis. Stat.] § 970.032(2)(a), (b), and (c) by a preponderance of the

Case 2023AP000218 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-08-2023 Page 16 of 21

evidence." *Kleser*, 328 Wis. 2d 42, ¶ 7. Specifically, the juvenile defendant must show that (1) "if convicted, the juvenile could not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system"; (2) "transferring jurisdiction to juvenile court would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense"; and (3) "retaining jurisdiction is not necessary to deter the juvenile or other juveniles from committing the violation of which the juvenile is accused." Id. ¶ 72.

Turning to the first prong under Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2), the circuit court reasonably concluded that Adams did not make the requisite showing that he cannot receive adequate treatment through the adult criminal justice system. (R. 52:9.) The circuit court provided a thorough explanation of its decision on this factor, explaining that Adams does not have any special or unusual treatment needs. (R. 52:4.) And all the treatment needs that Adams' expert witness, Dr. Kavanaugh, recommended are available at Lincoln Hills, regardless of whether Adams is placed there through a juvenile order or an adult sentence. (R. 52:4.)

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